No. 68815-4-I

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### **DIVISION ONE**

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### PETER JAMES CARR,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

ELAINE L. WINTERS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Peter Carr committed the crime of child molestation in the first degree, RCW 9A.44.083.

- The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.
   Carr committed the crime of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes, RCW 9.68A.090(1).
- The communicating with a minor for immoral purposes statute,
   RCW 9A.44.083, is unconstitutionally vague as applied to Mr. Carr's conduct.
- 4. Mr. Carr's attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel contrary to the Sixth Amendment when he failed to renew his meritorious motion to sever the two charges for trial.
- The trial court erred by denying Mr. Carr's pre-trial motion to sever the two charges for trial.
- The prosecutor's misconduct in closing argument denied Mr.
   Carr the fair trial he was guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A defendant may not be convicted of a crime unless the State proves every element of that crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Peter Carr was convicted of child molestation in the first degree for brushing his hand across a girl's chest outside her clothing for one second. When touching is over the clothing, the State must produce additional evidence of sexual gratification. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, must Mr. Carr's conviction for child molestation in the first degree

be dismissed in the absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt that he touched the child's breast for the purpose of sexual gratification?

- 2. The crime of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant communicated with a minor for the predatory purpose of promoting the child's exposure to or involvement in sexual misconduct.

  Mr. Carr asked a child in a retail store if she liked the garment he was examining. Later the child saw Mr. Carr's pants down part-way, showing the swimsuit underneath his pants. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, must Mr. Carr's conviction be reversed in the absence of evidence he communicated with a minor for an immoral sexual purpose?
- 3. Due process requires that statutes be drawn precisely enough that citizens have fair warning of what conduct is prohibited and the law will not be arbitrarily enforced by law enforcement or the courts. As interpreted by Washington courts, the communication with a minor for immoral purposes statute prohibits communication with a minor for and immoral purpose of a sexual nature. Where Mr. Carr was convicted of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes when he inadvertently exposed his underwear to a minor, is the statute unconstitutionally vague as applied to his conduct?

- 4. The accused's Sixth Amendment right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. Mr. Carr's attorney moved to sever the trials of the two charges against him, but waived the issue by not renewing it at or before the close of the evidence. Mr. Carr's severance motion would have been granted at the close of the evidence because it was then apparent that he was raising separate defenses to each count and that the evidence of the two counts was not cross-admissible. Had the counts been severed, it is likely that the guilty verdicts would have been different. Must Mr. Carr's convictions be reversed and remanded for separate trials because his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel was violated?
- 5. The defendant has a Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial, and a prosecutor's improper arguments may violate that right. The prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the State's burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, misrepresenting the facts of the case, and appealing to the jurors' fears and prejudices about sex offenders.

  Must Mr. Carr's convictions be reversed where the prosecutor's misconduct in closing argument was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it could not be cured by timely objections and curative instructions?

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Peter Carr was born and raised in Federal Way where his family was active in competitive swimming. 3/29/12 RP 873-74. He worked at the SeaTac MasterPark as a valet for \$10 per hour and lived in a trailer in Federal Way owned by his parents. 3/29/12 RP 888-89; 4/2/12 RP 4-5. Mr. Carr regularly shopped at the thrift stores near his home, Deseret Industries and Goodwill. 4/2/12 RP 7, 33-34, 40.

Mr. Carr enjoyed gardening, playing the piano, reading, and watching television when he was not at work. 4/2/12 RP 6. His sexual relationships were with heterosexual adults, but he purchased two women's one-piece bathing suits that he wore under his clothing when he was at home and occasionally in public. Id. at 31, 78-79, 83, 86.

On July 7, 2011, Mr. Carr was arrested in connection with two separate incidents at Federal Way thrift stores involving young girls.

3/29/12 RP 723; 3/29/12 RP 795, 802. The King County Prosecutor charged him with one count of child molestation in the first degree and one count of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 47-48.

1. Count 1. In June 2011, eight-year-old M.L. shopped at the Deseret Industries thrift store with her mother and two sisters several times a week. 3/21/12 RP 176-78; 3/26/12 RP 458; 3/27/12 RP 533, 536-

37. Her mother, Alma Lopez Ochoa, always kept M.L. and her little sister Sharon close to her when they were in the store. 3/21/12 RP 175, 179-80; 3/27/12 RP 540-41.

One day a man in the store touched one side of M.L's chest area with his hand; the touch was outside her clothing and lasted only one second. 3/27/12 RP 545-56, 584-85; Ex. 3; Ex. 4 at 9. The man did not look at M.L., say anything to her, or make any sounds. 3/27/12 RP 585; Ex. 3 at 9-10.

M.L. went to her mother and asked to leave the store. Ex. 3 at 10-11. Mrs. Lopez continued shopping for about 30 minutes, but M.L. did not calm down. 3/21/12 RP 198; 3/26/12 RP 412-13, 465-66. M.L. told her mother at the store and again that evening at home that a man touched her and demonstrated how his hand grazed her chest area. 3/21/12 RP 191-95, 199-210; 3/26/12 RP 471-72. She was unable to describe the man. 3/21/12 195, 201; 3/26/12 RP 473. Her mother did not report the incident to the police or store personnel. 3/26/12 RP 469.

Mrs. Lopez decided to return to Deseret Industries with her three daughters three days later to see if M.L. would recognize the man.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Exhibit 4 is the CD of M.L's interview with a King County Prosecutor's child interview witness specialist, which was viewed by the jury. 3/22/12 RP 290. The transcript of that interview was marked as Exhibit 3 but not admitted as evidence. 3/22/12 RP 286, 289. It is used here for the court's convenience. M.L.'s physical description of how the man touched her can be seen in the CD, Ex. 4 at 11:51:32, 11:53:08; 11:53:49; 11:54:15.

3/21/12 RP 202-03. When she learned where they were going, M.L. was upset and did not want to go into the store. 3/21/12 RP 204; 3/26/12 RP 475. Inside, she pointed out Mr. Carr, who was wearing a striped shirt and sweat pants. 3/21/12 RP 205-06; 3/26/12 RP 477.

Ms. Lopez said she and her daughters returned to Deseret Industries several more times and the man in the striped shirt was there every time. 3/21/12 RP 216, 218. M.L.'s older sister Angelina, however, testified there were three trips to the store – the time M.L. said she was touched, a second time, and the time the police were called.<sup>2</sup> 3/26/12 RP 478-79, 530.

On June 17, 2011, the Lopez family saw Mr. Carr in the store and notified a store employee who called the manager. 3/21/12 RP 219-21; 3/22/12 RP 389-90; 3/26/12 RP 397; 3/27/12 RP 592. The manager approached Mr. Carr, who left the store. 3/21/12 RP 226; 3/26/12 RP 490-91; 4/2/12 RP 12-13. Police officers came to the store and spoke to M.L.'s family. 3/27/12 RP 596-97.

Mr. Carr testified that he did not touch M.L. in the Deseret thrift store. 4/2/12 RP 13. Neither Mrs. Lopez nor Angelina knew the date of the incident. Mrs. Lopez, however, was certain it was on a Saturday at about 11:30 AM to noon. 3/26/12 RP 424-25. Mr. Carr's employer

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  M.L. said that after the incident, she saw the man in the store more than one time. 3/27/12 RP 562, 570.

testified Mr. Carr was working from 5 AM to 2 PM on June 4 and June 11, the two Saturdays that preceded June 17. 3/29/11 RP 893-94; Ex. 56.

2. Count 2. Nine-year-old K.W. was shopping with her mother at Goodwill in Federal Way on June 21, 2011. 3/28/12 RP 647-48, 686. K.W. was in the girl's clothing section while her mother was looking at women's clothing nearby. 3/28/12 RP 650, 687. A man showed her a gymnastics leotard on a hanger he was looking at and asked K.W. if she liked it or not, adding that he liked it. 3/28/12 RP 689, 691. K.W. did not respond and went to a different aisle, and the man moved away. 3/28/12 RP 691-93.

Later K.W. saw the man from about ten feet away with his pants lowered about a foot scratching his buttocks. 3/28/12 RP 694, 706. She could see his underwear but not his legs or stomach. 3/28/12 RP 695-697. The man was looking down, not at K.W., and then stood up. 3/28/12 RP 696-97. After glancing at the man, K.W. joined her mother. 3/28/12 RP 701.

K.W. described the man's underwear as a sparkly pink bikini bottom. 3/28/12 RP 695-96. The underwear was tight-fitting, but she did not see the man's privates. 3/28/12 RP 701. K.W. told her mother what she saw in the car as they drove away from the store to pick up her older

sister. 3/28/12 RP 703. Her mother reported the incident to the police when they got home. 3/28/12 RP 657.

K.W. provided a description of the man and the clothing he was wearing, but she did not identify Mr. Carr in court. 3/28/12 RP 703-05, 708. Mr. Carr testified he saw a girl looking at him when he shopping for women's swimming suits at Goodwill. 4/2/12 RP 15. He felt awkward and asked her if she liked the one-piece suit he had in his hand. 4/2/12 RP 15, 17-19. Mr. Carr was wearing his pink one-piece swim suit under his clothing that day, and his sweat pants tended to slip down because the draw string was broken. 4/2/12 RP 21, 37-38. Mr. Carr explained the swim suit had ridden up painfully when he crouched down to look at clothing. He briefly adjusted the swim suit and he did realize anyone was watching. 4/24/12 RP 20, 65-68.

3. <u>Verdict and Sentence</u>. The trial court denied Mr. Carr's motion to sever the two counts for trial. 3/15/12 RP 5. He was convicted as charged. CP 68-69. Mr. Carr received a life sentence for child molestation with a 68 month minimum term and a consecutive 364-day suspended sentence for communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 74, 80.

#### E. ARGUMENT

 Mr. Carr's conviction for child molestation in the first degree must be dismissed because the State did not prove the element of sexual gratification beyond a reasonable doubt.

To convict Mr. Carr of child molestation in the first degree, the

State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he had contact with a

sexual part of M.L.'s body for the purpose of sexual gratification.

Evidence of a fleeting touch of a child's intimate parts over clothing is not

sufficient by itself to prove the purpose of sexual gratification. The State

did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the fleeting touch over

clothing was for purposes of sexual gratification, and Mr. Carr's

conviction must be reversed and dismissed.

a. The State must prove every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The due process clauses of the federal and state constitutions require the State prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 476-77, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I §§ 3, 22. The critical inquiry on appellate review is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 334, 99 S. Ct. 2781,

61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

Mr. Carr was convicted of child molestation in the first degree, RCW 9A.44.083. CP 47, 68. As charged here, the State was required to prove that he had sexual contact with a child under the age of 12 who was not his wife or domestic partner and was at least 36 months younger than him. RCW 9A.44.083(1); CP 47. "Sexual contact" is defined as the touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of sexual gratification. RCW 9A.44.010(2). The State was thus required to prove Mr. Carr touched the sexual or intimate parts of a child under the age of 12 for the purpose of sexual gratification. RCW 9A.44.010(2); RCW 9A.44.083(1); State v. Stevens, 158 Wn.2d 304, 309-10, 143 P.3d 817 (2006).

b. The State did not prove the fleeting touch of the front of M.L.'s shirt was done for sexual gratification. M.L. testified that Mr. Carr touched her left breast outside of her clothing one time for approximately one second. 3/27/12 RP 543-46, 574-74, 584-85; accord Ex. 3 at 7, 9-10. M.L. thought it was "on purpose," but she did not know why she believed that. 3/27/12 RP 572-73. M.L. also demonstrated the motion of Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Carr raised an alibi defense and proved he was at work on the date and time the incident occurred. In light of the standard of review, however, this argument assumes Mr. Carr was the person who touched M.L.

Carr's hand. 3/27/12 RP 543, 545. While the prosecutor referred to the touch as "rubbing," 3/27/12 RP 545-56, M.L.'s demonstration shows one quick swipe of the hand across her chest. Ex. 4 at 11:51:32, 11:53:08, 11:53:49, 11:54:15.<sup>4</sup> M.L. said Mr. Carr never said anything to her and did not make any sounds. Ex. 3 at 9, 11. This evidence does not prove that Mr. Carr had sexual contact with M.L. for purposes of the child molestation statute.

As mentioned above, "sexual contact" is "any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either party of a third party." RCW 9A.44.010(2). An inference that touching of a child's sexual or intimate parts by an adult was for the purpose of sexual gratification arises when the adult is not related to the child and is not performing a caretaking function. State v Powell, 62 Wn. App. 914, 917, 816 P.2d 86 (1991), rev. denied, 118 Wn.2d 1013 (1992). However, when the touching is over the child's clothing or not in a primary erogenous area, additional evidence of sexual gratification is required. Id. (and cases cited therein).

Proof that an unrelated adult with no caretaking function has touched the intimate parts of a child supports the inference the touching was for sexual gratification. However, in those cases in which the evidence shows touching through clothing, or touching of intimate parts of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This Court can easily view M.L.'s demonstration of the swipe of a hand across her chest on the CD of the child interview specialist's interview of M.L., Ex. 4.

the body other than the primary erogenous areas, the courts have required some additional evidence of sexual gratification.

### Id. (Internal citations, footnote omitted).

In <u>Powell</u>, a man visiting a child's home was lifting the child off his lap when he placed his hand on the "front' and bottom of her underpanties under her skirt." 62 Wn. App. at 916. Another time he touched her thighs outside all of her clothing. <u>Id</u>. This Court concluded the State was unable to prove sexual gratification and reversed the conviction for first degree child molestation, noting the first touch was "fleeting" and both were outside the girl's clothing. <u>Id</u>. at 918. Mr. Carr's case involves even less contact than in Powell, as he swiped his hand one time across M.L.'s chest. The touch was over M.L.'s clothing and lasted only a second.

Cases upholding convictions for child molestation for contact on clothing also demonstrate that the evidence necessary to prove the purpose of sexual gratification is not present in Mr. Carr's case. In <u>Harstad</u> this Court addressed convictions for molesting two sisters occurring when the defendant was residing in their mother's home. <u>State v. Harstad</u>, 153 Wn. App. 10, 15-16, 218 P.3d 624 (2009). The defendant moved his hands around one child's "private area" while they were under a blanket on the couch, and he was "breathing hard" while he touched her. The child also

described the defendant apparently masturbating in the kitchen and said he asked to see her "pussy." <u>Id</u>. at 19-20. This Court upheld the child molestation conviction even though there was no evidence Harstad touched the child under her clothing. "While the evidence does not show that Harstad touched [the child] under her clothing, Harstad's moving his hand back and forth and his heavy breathing, 'like a whole bunch,' support an inference of sexual purpose to satisfy the sexual contact element of first degree child molestation." <u>Id</u>. at 22-23.

The defendant also rubbed the other girl's inner thigh very close to her vagina while she was wearing underwear. This evidence was supplemented by her statements that she saw the defendant play with his penis, he wanted her to touch his penis, and he asked to see her "pussy." Harstad, 153 Wn. App. at 16, 18 19. This Court concluded the evidence also supported the jury's conclusion that the touching was intended to promote his sexual gratification. Id. at 22.

A juvenile defendant touched a girl on the school bus by reaching over the seat and touching her private area three times in State v.

Whisenhunt, 96 Wn. App. 18, 19-20, 980 P.2d 232 (1999). The touching was under her skirt but over her body suit, but Division Three found the contact was not equivocal or fleeting and the finding of sexual gratification was supported by the evidence. Id. at 24. See also State v.

Young, 123 Wn. App. 854, 99 P.3d 1244 (2004) (attempted child molestation conviction affirmed when defendant put his hand underneath child's pants to try to feel her buttocks, repeatedly tried to place money in her belt, told her "you know what you have to do for it," and tried to undo her belt), aff'd 160 Wn.2d 799, 161 P.3d 967 (2007); State v. Price, 127 Wn. App. 193, 196-97, 110 P.3d 1171 (2005) (pinching a 4-year-old's vagina on the outside of her clothing was not fleeting or inadvertent when it caused redness and swelling), aff'd, 158 Wn.2d 630, 146 P.3d 1183 (2006).

c. Mr. Carr's child molestation conviction must be reversed. The State presented evidence of a one-second touching in a public place outside M.L.'s clothing. This evidence does not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that his action was intentional, let alone sexually motivated. The only other evidence presented by the State was that, after the incident, Mr. Carr shopped at the Deseret Industries store at the same time as M.L.'s family and, on one occasion, he observed the family after they had an unusual reaction to him. This evidence does not provide the additional support needed to prove Mr. Carr acted with the purpose of sexual gratification. Evidence of the incident with K.W. was not properly admitted in this case, see Argument 4 below, but it also does not support the element of sexual gratification. Mr. Carr's first degree child

molestation conviction must be reversed and dismissed. <u>Powell</u>, 62 Wn. App. at 918.

2. Mr. Carr's conviction for communicating with a minor for immoral purposes must be dismissed because the State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt the communication was for an immoral sexual purpose.

Mr. Carr was convicted of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. The State produced evidence that Mr. Carr asked K.W. if she liked an item of clothing he was examining in a retail store and that K.W. later noticed Mr. Carr in the store with his pants part-way down revealing his under garment. The communicating statute prohibits communication with a minor "with the predatory purpose of promoting their exposure to and involvement in sexual misconduct." RCW 9.68A.090(1); State v. McNallie, 120 Wn.2d 925, 933, 846 P.2d 1358 (1993). In the absence of proof that Mr. Carr's conduct was not designed to involve K.W. in sexual misconduct, his conviction for communicating with a minor for immoral purposes must be reversed and dismissed.

- a. The State was required to prove Mr. Carr communicated with K.W. for immoral purposes of a sexual nature. Mr. Carr was convicted of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes, RCW 9.68A.090. CP 48, 69. The statute reads in relevant part:
  - ...[A] person who communicates with a minor for immoral purposes, or a person who communicates with

someone the person believes to be a minor for immoral purposes, is guilty of a gross misdemeanor.

RCW 9.68A.090(1). The purpose of RCW Chapter 9.68A is to prevent the sexual exploitation and abuse of children. RCW 9.68A.001.

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