68815-4

NO. 68815-4-I

### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

**DIVISION I** 

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

PETER JAMES CARR,

Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JAMES CAYCE

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

#

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

The <u>McNallie</u> opinion observed that an invitation or inducement to engage in sexual contact for purposes of sexual gratification<sup>8</sup> would satisfy the statute. 120 Wn.2d at 934. Carr's conduct is accurately characterized as an invitation to sexual contact (whether or not KW recognized that), so it falls well within the constitutional core of RCW 9.68A.090. Any "purpose of a sexual nature" relating to a 9-year-old who was unrelated to Carr would be misconduct within the core of the statute.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 120 Wn.2d at 933.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Referring to the former crime of indecent liberties. RCW 9A.88.100.

3. NO CIRCUMSTANCES HAD CHANGED TO WARRANT CARR RENEWING THE MOTION TO SEVER THAT HAD BEEN PREVIOUSLY DENIED— CARR HAS NOT ESTABLISHED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Carr claims that his trial counsel was constitutionally deficient because he failed to renew a severance motion that had been denied by the trial court. The claim fails because Carr has not demonstrated that there was a reasonable chance the court would have reversed his ruling. Thus, Carr has not established that failure to renew the motion was deficient performance, or that it was prejudicial.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show both that defense counsel's representation was deficient, *i.e.*, that it "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances," and that deficient representation prejudiced the defendant. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Hutchinson</u>, 147 Wn.2d 197, 206, 53 P.3d 17 (2002) (applying the test of <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). The benchmark for judging a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is whether counsel's conduct "so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 686.

- 27 -

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential and begins with a strong presumption that the representation was effective. <u>Id.</u> at 689; <u>Hutchinson</u>, 147 Wn.2d at 206. Every effort should be made to judge counsel's performance from counsel's perspective at the time and to "eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689.

In addition to overcoming the presumption of competence and showing deficient performance, the defendant must affirmatively show prejudice. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 693. Carr must establish a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. <u>Id</u>. at 694. Speculation that a different result might have occurred is not sufficient. <u>State v.</u> <u>Crawford</u>, 159 Wn.2d 86, 99-102, 147 P.3d 1288 (2006).

 Carr Concedes That He Has Waived Any Claim That Denial Of His Pretrial Motion To Sever Was Error.

Carr waived his right to appeal the denial of his pretrial motion for severance because he did not renew that motion before or at the close of the evidence. CrR 4.4(a)(2); <u>Price</u>, 127 Wn. App. at 203. He concedes as much. App. Br. at 27. Despite that

.

concession, Carr's fifth assignment of error is a challenge to the pre-trial motion to sever the two counts for trial. App. Br. at 2.

This assignment of error should be rejected because of Carr's correct concession that he has waived the issue. This assignment of error also should be rejected because Carr has presented no argument or legal analysis supporting the contention that the original ruling was error. RAP 10.3(a)(6) requires the appellant's brief contain argument supporting the issues presented for review, citations to legal authority, and references to relevant parts of the record. This Court should conclude that Carr has waived this assignment of error and not consider it further. <u>State v.</u> Bello, 142 Wn. App. 930, 932 n.3, 176 P.3d 554 (2008).

> b. Carr Has Established Neither Deficient Performance Nor Prejudice As There Is No Reasonable Chance That The Judge Would Have Reversed His Previous Ruling.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that is based on the failure to renew a motion to sever, Carr must show that the failure to renew the motion was deficient performance and must show both that the motion would likely have been granted and that, if severance had been granted, there is a reasonable probability that the jury would not have found him guilty. <u>State v.</u> <u>Sutherby</u>, 165 Wn.2d 870, 884, 204 P.3d 916 (2009).

A defendant seeking severance must demonstrate that a trial on multiple counts "would be so manifestly prejudicial as to outweigh the concern for judicial economy." <u>State v. Bythrow</u>, 114 Wn.2d 713, 718, 790 P.2d 154 (1990). In evaluating possible prejudice, a trial court considers (1) the strength of the State's evidence on each count; (2) clarity of defenses; (3) instructing the jury to consider each count separately; and (4) the crossadmissibility of the evidence of each crime even if there were separate trials. <u>State v. Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d 24, 63, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

There was a legitimate reason for Carr's counsel not to renew the motion to sever – the trial court already had denied the motion and there was no significant change in circumstances to suggest that the court would reverse its original decision. A claim of ineffective assistance cannot be based on a matter of trial strategy. <u>State v. Cienfuegos</u>, 144 Wn.2d 222, 227, 25 P.3d 1011 (2011). Counsel is not ineffective for declining to pursue a strategy that reasonably appears unlikely to succeed. <u>State v. McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-37 & n.2, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

Carr - COA

- 30 -

The pretrial severance motion was fully litigated. The motion had been briefed at length in the defense trial memorandum and in a written response by the state. CP 41-46; Supp. CP (Sub no. 111, Defense Trial Brief) at 5-8. The trial court carefully articulated its analysis. 3/15/12 RP 4-5. It concluded that the incidents were "clearly" cross-admissible, as "fairly strong evidence" admitted for a valid purpose: to establish motive, intent and common scheme or plan. Id. at 4. The court concluded that cross-admissibility was not unduly prejudicial, and that the State had strong evidence as to each count. Id. at 5. The court also concluded that the jury would not consider the evidence for any improper purpose and offered to give a limiting instruction if requested by the parties. Id. The court did instruct the jury to decide each count separately. CP 67. Carr did not assert prejudice to his ability to present separate defenses. Defense Trial Brief at 6-7.

When the trial court denied the severance motion, it was well acquainted with the facts. It reviewed trial memoranda, heard testimony of central witnesses in a child hearsay hearing, 3/14/12 RP 64-148, and read the transcripts of and viewed the video of interviews of both victims by the prosecutor's child interview specialist, in which each discusses the respective offenses.

3/13/12 RP 17, 62-63; 3/14/12 RP 148; Ex. 4, 5.

Carr argues a renewed severance motion would have been granted because it was "then clear the evidence of each count was not cross-admissible." App. Br. at 27. Carr cites no new evidence at trial that was relevant to cross-admissibility, he simply argues that the court's original ruling was incorrect.<sup>9</sup> The court already had carefully considered the issue and exercised its discretion and Carr has not established that the judge would have reversed the ruling. If anything, the court's conclusion that the evidence was crossadmissible was strengthened when Carr claimed that he may have accidentally exposed himself to KW and that he always bumped into people walking down the aisles at Deseret Industries, the store in which the incident with ML. Each incident was relevant to rebut the defense of accident. ER 404(b); <u>Price</u>, 127 Wn. App. at 205.<sup>10</sup>

Carr also argues that a renewed severance motion would have been granted because he asserted an alibi defense as to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The propriety of the original ruling as to cross-admissibility of the evidence of the two incidents has not been challenged in this appeal.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Carr appears to suggest that the trial court improperly found that the offenses were relevant to motive or intent because neither crime has an intent element. App. Br. at 39. He concedes, however, that the purpose of his actions in each instance was an element, and the evidence of each incident was probative of that purpose, as the trial court concluded. 3/15/12 RP 4-5.

child molestation charge<sup>11</sup> but a possible accident defense to the charge of communication with a minor for immoral purposes. App. Br. at 34. Prejudice is not established because defenses differ, but only if "joinder will cause a jury to be confused" as to the defenses. <u>Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 64. The incidents were distinct, occurred at different locations and on different dates, and the victims were unrelated. There is nothing contradictory or confusing about Carr's defenses to the two charges.

Carr contends that severance should have been granted because the prosecutor relied upon evidence relating to each incident to establish his sexual purpose as to both and because impeaching cross-examination as to one incident was prejudicial to his defense. That argument and impeachment would be proper even in separate trials because the trial court had ruled that the evidence was cross-admissible.

Carr has not established deficient performance because the decision not to renew the motion was reasonable, where there was no reason to believe that the trial court would reverse its previous ruling. Even if defense counsel should have renewed the motion,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Carr offered two defenses to the molestation charge: he testified that he had never seen ML before June 17; he also suggested he may have accidentally bumped into ML, testifying that he always bumped into people walking down the aisles of that store. 4/2/12 RP 9, 13, 40-41.

Carr has not demonstrated prejudice: first, because he has not established that the trial court would have reversed its ruling, and second, because the court had ruled the evidence of the two offenses cross-admissible, so all of the same evidence would have been admitted at any separate trial and there is no reason to believe that the jury's verdicts would change.

## 4. THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT DID NOT CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR.

Carr contends that three aspects of the prosecutor's comments in closing argument constitute misconduct and warrant reversal. Carr did not object to any of these arguments in the trial court and none of the comments was improper.

A defendant who claims on appeal that prosecutorial misconduct deprived him or her of a fair trial generally bears the burden of establishing that the conduct was both improper and prejudicial. <u>State v. Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756-59, 764 n.14, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); <u>State v. Fisher</u>, 165 Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). If misconduct is proven, it is grounds for reversal if the defendant establishes a substantial likelihood that the improper conduct affected the jury's verdict. <u>State v. McKenzie</u>, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006).

- 34 -

A defendant who does not make a timely objection at trial waives any claim on appeal unless the misconduct in question is "so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice" that could not have been neutralized by a curative instruction to the jury. <u>Fisher</u>, 165 Wn.2d at 747 (quoting <u>State v. Gregory</u>, 158 Wn.2d 759, 841, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006)).

The Supreme Court recognizes that the absence of an objection by defense counsel "*strongly suggests* to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of trial." <u>McKenzie</u>, at 53 n.2 (emphasis in original) (quoting <u>State v. Swan</u>, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990)). That Court has stated, "Counsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, when it is adverse, use the misconduct as a life preserver ... on appeal." <u>State v. Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d 24, 93, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) (citing Jones v. Hogan, 56 Wn.2d 23, 27, 351 P.2d 153 (1960)).

A prosecutor is afforded wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence for the jury. <u>Stenson</u>, at 727. The prosecutor's remarks must not be viewed in isolation, but "in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury." <u>State v. Brown</u>, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), <u>aff'd on other grounds</u>, <u>Uttecht v. Brown</u>, 551 U.S. 1 (2007).

a. Relevant Instructions To The Jury.

At the start of the trial, the court orally advised the jurors that the lawyers' remarks, statements, and arguments are not evidence and "you should disregard any remarks, statements, or arguments which are not supported by the evidence or by the law as I will instruct you." 3/20/12 RP 166. The court stated: "The evidence you're to consider consists of the testimony of the witnesses and the exhibits admitted in evidence." Id. The court also cautioned the jurors: "Throughout the trial, you should be impartial and permit neither sympathy nor prejudice to influence you." Id.

The court's first written instruction informed the jury that it was their duty to accept the law from the court's instructions. CP 50. It stated that the lawyers' statements and arguments were not evidence and did not constitute the law to be applied, as follows:

The lawyers' remarks, statements, and arguments are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law. It is important, however, for you to remember that the lawyers' statements are not evidence. The evidence is the testimony and the exhibits. The law is contained in my instructions to you. You must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions.

CP 52. The court concluded this instruction with an admonition to

act impartially, based on the facts in evidence, as follows:

As jurors, you are officers of this court. You must not let your emotions overcome your rational thought process. You must reach your decision based on the facts proved to you and on the law given to you, not on sympathy, prejudice, or personal preference. To assure that all parties receive a fair trial, you must act impartially with an earnest desire to reach a proper verdict.

CP 53.

In its second written instruction, the court informed the jury of

the burden of proof, in pertinent part as follows:

The State is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of each crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists as to these elements.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 54. In its instructions setting out the elements of each crime,

the court advised the jury, twice in each instruction, that they must

be convinced of each element beyond a reasonable doubt in order

to return a verdict of guilty. CP 60, 63.

The jury was instructed that each count must be decided separately, and that their verdict on one count should not control their verdict on the other. CP 67.

> The Prosecutor Did Not Misstate The Facts In Evidence And Properly Relied On Inferences Supported By The Evidence.

Carr claims that the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing by using two words that constituted facts not in evidence. This argument should be rejected. The statements that Carr "groped" ML and "exposed" his genitals to KW were a fair characterization of the evidence presented and would not have been understood as suggesting facts not in evidence. There was no objection. If these remarks were improper, any prejudice could have been cured by a simple instruction, and any error was waived by failure to request one.

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